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The ALS Ice Bucket Challenge raised $115 million in eight weeks to help find a 
treatment for Lou Gehrig’s disease.1 After a six-day crowdfunding campaign brought in 
more than $67,000, the city of Detroit hopes to have a new, privately funded statute – of 
RoboCop.2 Hundreds of new "social enterprises" formed as benefit corporations, social 
purpose corporations, or other types of hybrid entities combine profitmaking with social 
missions, and prominent existing businesses such as Kickstarter and Patagonia have 
converted to a hybrid form.3  

These innovative ways of generating financial support for doing good are rightly 
applauded. But at the same time they present a challenge to federal and state regulators 
who generally oversee the raising of funds for charitable purposes. An important 
threshold issue for these regulators is whether their existing statutory authority reaches 
these new ways of seeking support for charitable organizations and causes and, if not, 
whether it should. This short paper first briefly summarizes the applicable law and then 
identifies the key questions that need to be answered with respect to each of these new 
ways of raising funds to support charitable efforts. 

Legal Background 

Most states have laws relating to the oversight of charitable solicitation, usually 
focusing on registration and reporting requirements for the charitable organizations 
involved and those who assist them in such activities.4 The other entities that may be 
covered by these laws usually include “professional solicitors” or “professional 
fundraisers,” “fundraising counsel,” and “commercial co-venturers.” Definitions vary 
from state to state, but generally these categories are defined along these lines: 
“[p]rofessional fundraisers are individuals or entities paid to solicit funds on behalf of a 
charity; fundraising counsels are individuals or entities paid to advise or assist with the 
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solicitation of contributions on behalf of a charity, but do not solicit or have custody of 
funds; and commercial co-venturers are entities that advertise that the purchase or use of 
any goods, services, entertainment, etc. will benefit a charitable organization or 
purpose.”5 

While it is clear that states have jurisdiction to apply these laws to charities domiciled 
in their state or that actively solicit donations in their state, the Internet has created some 
uncertainty as to when a state has jurisdiction over a charity that is domiciled outside of 
the state. As a matter of constitutionally required due process, states must apply a 
minimum contacts standard to determine if a state has such jurisdiction. The Charleston 
Principles issued in 2001 by the National Association of State Charity Officials 
(NASCO) “represent the states’ effort to consistently apply minimum contacts principles 
to the existing state charitable solicitation regulatory framework.”6 More specifically, the 
Principles provide that state charitable solicitation laws only apply to entities that are 
domiciled within the state, entities that are domiciled outside the state if their non-
Internet activities would require registration in the state, and entities that are domiciled 
outside the state if they solicit through an interactive or non-interactive Web site and 
either specifically target persons physically located in the state, or receive contributions 
from the state on a repeated and ongoing basis or a substantial basis through or in 
response to the Web site solicitation.7 While the Principles are only guidelines, NASCO 
encourages their use in applying a state’s laws.8 As for fundraising platforms and social 
media sites, at least one attorney general has issued guidelines indicating that the 
application of existing laws to such for-profit companies will simply depend on whether 
they fall within the state’s existing definition of commercial fundraiser, fundraising 
counsel, or commercial co-venturer.9  

At the federal level, the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) only has jurisdiction over 
entities organized for profit; as a result the FTC is not able to directly regulate charitable 
nonprofit organizations.10 It is, however, able to regulate for-profit entities that assist 
charities with respect to their fundraising activities, including for-profit entities that state 
law classifies as professional solicitors or professional fundraisers, fundraising counsel, 
or commercial co-venturers. In addition, if a purported charity is actual a sham the 
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organization is no longer considered a nonprofit organization and therefore the FTC is 
able to reach that entity.11  

At both the state and federal level, consideration also has to be given to the fact that 
charitable solicitations are fully protected speech under the First Amendment. This 
protection even extends to when the solicitation is “conducted by a professional fund 
raiser with a profit motive.”12 At the same time, “[t]he First Amendment . . . does not 
shield fraud. Like other forms of public deception, fraudulent charitable solicitation is 
unprotected speech.”13 The government has a legitimate interest in protecting the public 
from fraud and therefore they can “vigorously enforce their antifraud laws,” including 
with respect to charitable solicitations.14 

Social Media Viral Campaigns 

The 2014 ALS Ice Bucket Challenge is the poster child for a successful social media 
viral campaign to generate support for a charitable organization. Started by individuals 
interested in supporting ALS and then spread through social media channels to the 
family, friends, and acquaintances, the Challenge is credited with generating $115 million 
in donations.15 At the same time, because the individuals involved were acting 
independently from ALS and without compensation, and because all donated funds went 
directly to ALS and not to any intermediaries, it appears that the activities of these 
individuals likely did not trigger any reporting, registration, or other requirements under 
existing state charitable solicitation laws or make them subject to FTC jurisdiction.  

For a well-known and national charity such as ALS that was presumably already in 
compliance with all state and federal regulatory requirements relating to soliciting 
charitable contributions, this lack of regulatory oversight did not appear to raise any 
significant concerns (although there was criticism of ALS’ attempt to trademark the 
phrase “Ice Bucket Challenge” and some more general worries about it distorting giving 
priorities).16 The success of the campaign and therefore the strong likelihood that others 
will seek to reproduce it does, however, create the possibility of a different scenario 
developing. For example, what if the identified charitable organization is a small, local 
charity that had previously only solicited and received donations from residents of a 
single state? A successful viral campaign could lead to a surge in donations from across 
the country, but likely with no obligation on the part of the charity to register, report, or 
otherwise comply with other state's charitable solicitation laws (at least until the charity 
begins asking these new donors for additional contributions). Or what if the named entity 
is actual a sham, created by unscrupulous individuals to briefly ride the success of the 
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viral campaign and then to disappear (with the donated funds)? Does the extent of 
charitable solicitation laws or the reach of the FTC need to be adjusted to provide for 
scenarios such as the latter two ones?  

More specifically, key questions to be answered include: 

• Do state charitable solicitation laws and federal laws enforced by the FTC not 
apply to individuals who solicit contributions for a charitable organizations if 
such individuals operate independently of the charity involved, do not receive 
compensation, and do not receive any portion of the donated funds themselves? If 
so, are there any circumstances under which such individuals should be subject to 
such laws? 

• Are there any circumstances under which social media sites that individuals use to 
promote such viral campaigns could be or should be considered professional 
solicitors, fundraising counsel, or commercial co-venturers and so subject to the 
state law obligations of such entities? 

• Do state charitable solicitation laws only apply to the beneficiary of a social 
media viral campaign to the extent the charity itself operates in or requests 
donations from individuals in a given state, as opposed to simply receiving 
donations from individuals in a given state in response to the viral campaign? If 
so, are there any circumstances under which such charities should be subject to 
such laws of a particular state if the only connection of the charity to that state is 
donation of funds from residents of that state in response to a viral campaign? 

Crowdfunding 

Crowdfunding has great potential for supporting charitable causes, with some 
crowdfunding sites even creating dedicated portals for such purposes.17 Such efforts 
include both appeals for funds to support specific, identified charitable organizations and 
appears for funds to support specific activities or causes that appear to be "charitable" in a 
non-legal sense but are not connected to an identified charitable organization. For 
example, the first page of one such site includes both an appeal to support a specific 
charitable organization (and specifically notes that donations would be tax-deductible) 
and an appeal to help a specific individual suffering from a rare illness (with no mention 
of any charitable organization being involved).18 The type of appeal matters, as indicated 
by the fact that at least one state has stated that an appeal for a specific individual is 
outside the scope of that state’s charitable solicitation law.19 But when a crowdfunding 
effort is tied to a specific charity, it raises the question of whether current state charitable 
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solicitation laws and federal laws administered by the FTC reach that effort and those 
involved with it. 

More specifically, key questions raised by such crowdfunding include: 

• Are there any circumstances under which the users who start such crowdfunding 
efforts are or should be subject to state charitable solicitation laws or the federal 
laws administered by the FTC? For example, if the user receives a portion of the 
funds received would they be considered a professional fundraiser for purposes of 
the state charitable solicitation laws that impose certain obligations on such 
persons? 

• Are there any circumstances under which the operators of a crowdfunding site 
that hosts such efforts are or should be subject to such laws? As noted above, at 
least one attorney general has provided helpful guidance on when its existing 
commercial fundraiser, fundraising consultant, and co-venturers laws reach 
crowdfunding site operators, but such guidance does not address whether the 
reach of those laws should be increased or decreased in this context. 

• Are there any circumstances under which the benefitting charitable organizations 
can or should be subject to such laws as a result of such crowdfunding efforts? 
For example, what if the charity is itself the user that launches the crowdfunding 
effort? 

Hybrid Entities 

The enactment of state laws authorizing the creation of benefit corporations, low-
profit limited liability companies (L3Cs), public benefit corporations, social purpose 
corporations and other legal forms designed to permit a for-profit business to pursue both 
profits and a social or public benefitting mission presents a different set of questions. 
Such entities do not solicit donations for charitable purposes nor do they hold assets for 
charitable use and so they do not generally fall within the scope of state charitable 
solicitation statutes or the authority of state officials to oversee the use of charitable 
assets.20 (The one exception may the L3C. as at least one state by statute requires L3Cs 
and their primary manager to register with the attorney general.21) They do, however, 
often tout their social or public benefitting mission in order to attract both investors and 
customers. Accurate and complete disclosure of information to potential and current 
investors is generally the province of federal and state securities laws and so beyond the 
scope of this piece.  There is, however, at least one key question relating to state 
charitable solicitation laws and federal laws administered by the FTC: 

• If a hybrid entity touts its social or public benefitting mission to attract customers, 
to what extent does the entity's pursuit of that mission (that is the, the truthfulness 
of its claims regarding that mission) become subject state or federal (FTC) 
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consumer protection oversight? For example, such claims violate state laws 
prohibiting deceptive trade practices if a hybrid entity fails to sufficiently pursue 
its advertised social mission? 

Conclusion 

The development of innovative new methods for attracting public support for 
charitable organizations and charitable efforts presents a challenge to existing state and 
federal laws primarily designed in a pre-Internet and pre-hybrid entity era. In some 
instances the existing laws may reach those individuals and entities involved in deploying 
these new methods. In other instances, they may not. In both situations consideration 
needs to be given whether and to what extent these laws should apply, balancing the need 
to protect the public against the risk of unduly burdening these methods for supporting 
support good works. This piece represents an early attempt to identify the specific 
potential applications that need to be addressed to strike this balance appropriately. 


